APR 2 4 2020

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/29/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

98475-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 366707-III)

THE ESTATE OF SHENNEN GOODYEAR BLACKBURN

Petitioner,

V.

SHAWN BLACKBURN

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF SHAWN BLACKBURN

AMY RIMOV J.D. P.S. WSBA #30613 505 W. Riverside Ste. 500 Spokane Wa 99201 (509) 835-5377 Attorney for Shawn Blackburn

I.	Identity of Petitioner
II.	Citation to Court of Appeals Decision1
III.	Issues Presented for Review
IV.	Statement of the Case
V.	Argument4
	1. The court of appeals applied plain and ordinary meaning rather than statutory definitions and context to avoid application of the 10 year limitations for child support arrears of RCW 4.16.020(3)
	2. Many other statute of limitations apply, as well, so the court of appeals should not have required application of the last resort, two year statute of limitations
VI.	Conclusion
VII.	Appendix21

Table of Authorities

Page(s)
Cases
Associated Press v. Washington State Legislature, 194 Wn.2d 915, 454 P.3d 93 (2019)
Cannon v. Miller, 22 Wn.2d 227, 155 P.2d 500 (1945)
Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) 4
Jametsky v. Olsen, 179 Wn.2d 756, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014)
Jongeward v, BNSF R. Co., 174 Wn.2d 586, 278 P.3d 157 (2012)
Reid v Dalton, 124 App. 113, 100 P.3d 349 (Div. 3, 2004)
Robinson v. Lewis Cy., 141 Wn. 642 P. 143, 256 P. 503 (1927)
Rose v. Rinaldi, 654 F.2d 546 (9th Cir. 1981)
Seattle Professional Engineering Employees Ass'n v. Boeing, 139 Wn.2d 824, 991 P.2d 1126 (2000)
Shew v. Coon Bay Loafers, Inc., 76 Wn.2d 40, 455 P.2d 359 (1969)
State v. McCormick, 166 Wn.2d 689, 213 P.3d 32 (2009)
Stenberg v. Pacific Power & Light Co., Inc., et al, 104 Wn.2d 710, 709 P.2d 793 (1985)
Ugolini v. Ugolini, 11 Wn.App. 2d 443, 453 P.3d 1027 (Div. 3, 2019)

<i>Unruh v Cacchiotti,</i> 172 Wn.2d 98, 257 P.3d 631 (2011)
Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996)
Statutes
RCW 4.16.020
RCW 4.16.020 (2)
RCW 4.16.020 (3)
RCW 4.16.040
RCW 4.16.080
RCW 4.16.130
RCW 4.16.270
RCW 26.18
RCW 26.18.020
RCW 26.19
RCW 26.19.011
RCW 26.19.080
RCW 26.21A.0109
RCW 26.21A.515

I. Identity of Petitioner.

Shawn Blackburn, the Respondent, Petitions the Supreme Court for Review of the March 26, 2020 Division III published decision.

II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

In re Marriage of Shennen Goodyear-Blackburn v. Shawn Blackburn, March 26, 2020 decision, published in part, No. 36670 -7-III.

III. Issues Presented for Review

Which statute of limitations applies on actions to receive reimbursement for overpayment of day care expenses which original child support order ordered the father to pay 100% of the day care expenses and the specific amount of monthly day care was entered by administrative order?

IV. Statement of the Case

The parties entered agreed divorce and child support orders in 2009 using the mandatory forms. CP 1-36 and *Blackburn* 36670-7-III, Appx. 2. Shennen received primary placement of their son. *Id.* Shawn agreed to pay \$1000 per month as a child support transfer payment as well as \$1,500 per month in spousal support for 84 months. CP 11 and 34. Shawn's basic support obligation was only \$457.24. CP 18.

The final 2009 child support order required Shawn to pay 100% of day care costs by court interlineation. CP 13 and CP 371-372 (Appx. 13-14). The parties' child support order provided for reimbursements, if day care

costs were paid but not utilized for day care: "The obligor may be able to seek reimbursement for day care or special child rearing expenses not actually incurred. RCW 26.19.080." CP 11.

The trial court interpreted this reference in the child support order for day care reimbursements, as a provision that allowed Shawn to be reimbursed for daycare that was paid to the custodial parent but not actually incurred. CP 372 para 3.3 (Appx. 14).

The State of Washington garnished the transfer payment and in 2010 began ordering and garnishing monthly day care amounts. *See e.g. CP 294.* The first administrative order required Shawn to pay \$150/month from Nov. 2009 – January 2010. CP 285. It then ordered \$300/month beginning Feb. 2010. CR 285-287. Beginning June 1, 2012 it ordered Shawn to pay \$650/month in child care expenses by administrative order of June 26, 2012. CP 104; CP 280-84. The State of Washington continued to garnish Shawn's employment checks to the full extent of the orders. *See e.g.* 299-307.

During the effects of this State of Washington \$650/month child care administrative order, Shennen reimbursed Shawn a total of \$3,500 during 2016 and 2017. CP 98-100.

After day care costs ended, the State of Washington proposed an amount owed by Shennen for reimbursement of child care costs at the full amount paid by Shawn, from June 2012 – May 2018: \$46,800. Shennen

had not proven she had used the child care funds for child care. CP 103-104. State of Washington's notice of this delinquency was entitled, "Notice of Support Owed." CP 103.

In Sept., 2018, Shawn presented a motion to show cause in Superior Court to receive a judgment for reimbursement of this child care paid. CP 371 – 373 (Appx. 13-15).

The superior court determined the ten year statute of limitations for child support arrears applied and also determined that requesting competent proof for the six years of child care expense use to be reasonable. *Blackburn* No. 36670-7-III, Appx. 4, see CP 372 (Appx. 14).

Shennen did not present competent evidence that at any time, from June 2012 to June 2018, she had used the day care funds for day care. *See* trial court's order, CP 372 para 2.7, 3.1 and 3.2 (Appx.14).

The trial court noticed that a contract statute of limitations might apply if the 10 year RCW 4.16.020 (3) did not apply. CP 373 para 3.5 (Appx. 15). But ultimately, the trial court found that the administrative orders, charging monthly child care expenses to Shawn, is what caused the child support repayment arrears to accumulate, thus allowing RCW 4.16.020 (3) to apply.

The trial court found "that there would be no reason the catch all 2-year statute of limitations should apply." CP 373 para 3.5. (Appx. 15).

The trial court also denied all requests for equitable relief. CP 371-374 (Appx 13-16) The court of appeals affirmed this at 9.

Shawn is now the custodial parent of their son. He is receiving no child support from Shennen: she has past. Blackburn No 36670-7-III, Appx. 4. He continues to seek the \$43,300 as a set off against the amount owed The Estate of Shennen's for the Estate's continued ownership of ½ interest in the home Shawn and their son reside. *See Id.* at 8.

V. Argument

The Supreme Court reviews de novo, questions of statutory Associated Press v. Washington State Legislature, 194 interpretation. Wn.2d 915, 920, 454 P.3d 93 (2019); Jongeward v, BNSF R. Co., 174 Wn.2d 586, 592, 278 P.3d 157 (2012). The fundamental aim in interpreting a statute is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. Associated Press at 920. A court must give effect to plain meaning as an expression of legislation intent. *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d. at 594. 'meaning is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question.'" Associated Press, 194 Wn. at 920 (quoting Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)) and see Jongeward, 174 Wn.2d at 594. Such may include the statutory scheme as a whole, the context of the statute where the provision is found, and related provisions. Unruh v Cacchiotti, 172 Wn.2d 98, 113, 257 P.3d 631 (2011). "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." Associated Press, 194 Wn. 2nd at 920 (citing Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). Therefore, where statutory definitions apply, they must be used, and only when a term is undefined will it be given its plain and ordinary meaning. See Associated Press, 194 Wn. 2nd at 926.

Only after a plain meaning contextual analysis is applied and the statute remains ambiguous, is it appropriate to reference case law on the subject. *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 602.

This petition for review is requested because Washington Supreme Court principles of statutory interpretation were avoided as well as long standing Washington Supreme Court principles of law, for the appellate court to reverse and reduce the trial court's statute of limitations choice from ten years to two. It also involves a subject of substantial public interest

1. The court of appeals applied plain and ordinary meaning rather than statutory definitions and context to avoid application of the 10 year limitations for child support arrears of RCW 4.16.020(3).

The superior court applied the RCW 4.16.020 (3)'s 10 yr. statute of limitations to this action to collect overdue child care overpayment

reimbursements which arose out of an administrative order. The Court of Appeals Division III avoided that statute of limitations by applying plain and ordinary meanings to child support duties rather than statutory definitions. The court of appeals decided that "overpaid child care expenses are not past due child support." *Blackburn No. 36670-7-III*, Appx. 7. In so doing, it avoided the Washington Supreme Court long standing precedent on discerning the legislature's intent.

Applicable statutory definitions that assist in determining if reimbursement for "overpayment of day care expenses" are child support are in the Child Support Enforcement chapter RCW 26.18, Child Support Schedule chapter 26.19 and Interstate Child Support Enforcement Act chapter 26.21A. All three related child support chapters define child support duties and terms broadly and include "reimbursements" as part of the "duty of support." The totality of RCW chapter 26.19 involves the proper setting of child support orders. The totality of RCW chapter 26.18 involves enforcing child support duties. RCW 26.21A is the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act chapter. All three chapters express the legislature's intent and definitions surrounding setting and enforcing child support orders, and assist courts in applying the correct statute of limitations to the issue.

For RCW 4.16.020 (3) to apply here, the funds that Mr. Blackburn sought to collect would have to be categorized as "past due child support that has accrued under an order."

The child support limitations statute does not define its words, but related definitions do appear in the enforcement of child support chapters.

The child support enforcement chapter, RCW 26.18 defines "duty of support" to include an obligation to make monetary payments, to pay expenses, or reimbursements of a person for necessary support furnished a dependent child. RCW 26.18.020 (3). "Dependent child" means a child to whom a support order has been established or for whom a duty of support is owed. RCW 26.18.020 (1). "Obligee" and "obligor" are defined within the enforcement chapter simply based on who is owed funds and who owes funds. RCW 26.18.020 (4) and (5).

Because the definition of duty of support is broad to include reimbursements for payment of expenses on behalf of a dependent child, this RCW 26.18 chapter supports a conclusion that the legislature intended child care expense overpayment reimbursements to be included in the broad meaning of child support for a dependent child.

The context of RCW 26.19.080 (3) also shows the legislative intent that the reimbursement of overpayment be required in child support orders and if unpaid, are overdue. An overview of RCW 26.19 shows that child support responsibilities are intended to apply to both parents. The

declared legislative intent in setting child support chapter of RCW 26.19, is to ensure that child support obligations are "equitably apportioned between the parents." RCW 26.19.011. The basic child support obligation is set for both parents. RCW 26.19.011 (1). The "support transfer payment" is the amount one parent pays another parent (on an ongoing basis and not fluctuating) for child support. RCW 26.19.011 (9).

It is within this statutory chapter devoted to equitable balancing and setting child support orders that the legislature elected to insert the obligee's requirement to reimburse an obligor for the overpayment of day care expenses. RCW 26.19.080 (3). Because the legislature included this provision in the chapter exclusively dedicated to setting child support orders, the placement supports the conclusions that the legislature intended the reimbursement requirements to be set forth in child support orders. *See* RCW 26.19.080 (3). Consistently, the state wide child support order form does incorporate and reference RCW 26.19.080, with its duty of reimbursement of expenses not incurred. *See* CP 11, para 3.3.

Shawn sought reimbursement relief on the basis of his superior court child support order that gave him the right of reimbursement and requiring him to pay 100% of daycare expenses as well as the results of the administrative order setting day care at \$650/month. *Id.*

Finally, for RCW 4.16.020(3) to apply, the reimbursements needed to be past due. Per the plain reading of RCW 26.19.080, past due

reimbursement overpayments accrue when prompt reimbursement does not happen on an annual basis, when more than 20% of the childcare expenses are not used on child care. *See* RCW 26.19.080.

The definitions of the Interstate Support Enforcement Act are also consistent with a broad definition of a duty of child support and include reimbursement obligations for overpayments. Under the Interstate Act, support orders means a decree or order which provides, among other things, for reimbursement for financial assistance provided to an obligee. RCW 26.21A.010 (28). "Duty of support" therein means an obligation imposed or imposable by law to provide support for a child or former spouse, including an unsatisfied obligation to provide support. RCW 26.21A.010 (4). Obligor is a person who owes a duty of support. RCW 26.21A.010 (17)(1).

The RCW 4.16.020 (3) 10 yrs. limitations to collect past due child support provision should be applied here compared to the more general RCW 4.16.020 (2) limitations for all orders, because a special statute of limitations supersedes a general rule. *Reid v Dalton*, 124 App. 113, 100 P.3d 349 (Div. 3, 2004). The Interstate Support Enforcement Act chapter, RCW 26.21A.515 also requires that that the longer statute of limitations must be applied, for a proceeding for arrears, from a support order between states.

In sum, the RCW 26.19.080 legislation ensures that the parent

receiving child care funds is a fiduciary of those funds, as they are always intended for another. Accordingly, the legislature provided strong language for that responsibility: reimbursement is required when applicable. See RCW 26.19.080 (3). The legislature expected the reimbursement requirement and duties to be included in court orders, by placing the reimbursement provision within the chapter devoted to the formation of child support orders. The legislature did not assign this reimbursing and crediting process its own statute of limitations. The legislature was aware at the time of enactment, that the 10 year statute of limitations applies to past due child support that has accrued under an Because the legislature defined duty of support to include order. reimbursements, the legislature intended the 10 year statute of limitations to apply here to an action to collect past due child support in the form of arrears for reimbursements of overpayment of daycare expenses accrued under an order of support. When brought into appropriate focus, the plain meaning of the orders and all the related statutes become clear and consistent with the trial court's decision. See RCW 4.16.020 (3) and 26.21A.515.

2. Many other statute of limitations apply, as well, so the court of appeals should not have required application of the last resort, two year statute of limitations.

In a published decision, Division III has erred on an issue of substantial public interest, by judicially carving out an exception to the 10 year statute of limitations for actions upon orders, by applying a two year statute of limitations to actions upon a statute in a court order. The *Blackburn* cause of action falls under the 10 year limitation of RCW 4.16.020 (2) as an action upon a decree. But the appellate court inserted a distinction for a basis in law cited in the decree.

In making the error, Division III is in direct conflict with the Supreme Court's decisions of *Shew v. Coon Bay Loafers, Inc.*, 76 Wn.2d 40, 51-52, 455 P.2d 359 (1969) and *Stenberg v. Pacific Power & Light Co., Inc. et al*, 104 Wn.2d 710, 709 P.2d 793 (1985). "When there is uncertainty as to which statute of limitation governs, the longer statue will be applied." *Stenberg*, 104 Wn.2d at 715 (*citing Rose v. Rinaldi*, 654 F.2d 546 (9th Cir. 1981) *and citing Shew*, 76 Wn.2d at 51). The *Shew* court explained, that if it were questionable which of two statutes applied, because there is doubt about the nature of the action, the multijurisdictional rule is that the statute applying the longest period is generally used. *Shew*, 76 Wn.2d at 51.

The court of appeals dismissed 4.16.020(2) from applying because they observed the right included in the order arose directly from statute without changing that statutory right in the order and the order was not forceful with a "shall", therefore it is not a right to be enforced under the

order. There are a plethora of problems with this reasoning. a) the RCW 4.16.020(2) 10 year SOL language is not ambiguous and clearly applies to all legal actions "upon decrees" and is not limited to "judgments" or ordered provisions with forceful words like "shall." b) All provisions in orders expectantly arise from law without changing the law, and are deemed to be in error if in derogation of the law. c) The "everything else" two year statute of limitations is not assigned to rights arising from statute. d) The type of underlying issue (other than upon an order), wrongfully keeping funds that belong to another, or breach of contract, are not the type of issue falling into the last resort, two year statute of limitations of RCW 4.16.130.

a) The RCW 4.16.020(2) 10 year SOL language is not ambiguous and applies to all legal actions upon "decrees" and is not limited to "judgments" or "shall" language.

In pertinent part, RCW 4.16.020 reads:

"The period prescribed for the commencement of actions shall be as follows: Within ten years: . . . (2) For an action upon a judgment or decree of any court of the United States, or of any state or territory within the United States, or of any territory or possession of the United States outside the boundaries thereof, or of any extraterritorial court of the United States, unless the period is extended ..."

RCW 4.16.020.

The court of appeals did not discuss whether they considered RCW 4.16.020 to be ambiguous, and did not deny that the statute could apply to the child support order as addressed within RCW 4.16.020 (2).

The Court of Appeals did not specifically state that order was ambiguous, either. Without discussing an ambiguity, the Court of Appeals Div III asserted a right to "construe" the order and without much explanation decided that the statutory right within the order was notification, and not creating a right for reimbursement. *Blackburn* No. 36670-7-III, Appx. at 6-7. They then seemed to exempt the notification as being a right from which Shawn could enforce a decree. *Id.* at 7. Of note, RCW 4.16.020(2) does not use the word "enforce," but uses the phrase "action upon" a decree.

Concluding that a certain provision within a court order is not really part of the order to be enforced, and therefore the action cannot be upon an order to enforce, is straying from settled principles of statutory construction and allowing a limiting requirement within an order that is not present in the statute. *See e.g. Unruh*, 172 Wn.2d at 114.

The original child support order phrase at issue appears within the Obligee's rights and responsibilities section of 3.3. After requiring updating address information from the obligee and assigning a monthly net income to the obligee, the order states: "The obligor may be able to

seek reimbursement for day care or special child rearing expenses not actually incurred. RCW 26.19.080." CP 11 at para 3.3.

At section 3.15, the original child support order requires the parties to pay educational and day care expenses at 100% to the father. CP 3.13, para 3.15.

By these references, Shawn has been asserting the order includes RCW 26.19.080 with its reimbursement requirements. He brought a motion to show cause in the underlying divorce action, as authorized by his original child support order. *See* CP 11, and 371 (Appx.13).

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