FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/30/2020 1:37 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> Washington State Supreme Court No. 98475-1 (Division III Case No. 366707)

SUPREME COURT, STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE of SHENNEN GOODYEAR-BLACKBURN (substituted for Shennen Goodyear-Blackburn), ANSWERING PARTY v.

SHAWN BLACKBURN, PETITIONER FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DIVISION III DECISION

ANSWER OF SHENNEN BLACKBURN'S ESTATE: REQUESTING DENIAL OF SHAWN BLACKBURN'S REQUEST FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Craig Mason, WSBA#32962 Attorney for Respondent W. 1707 Broadway Spokane, WA 99201 509-443-3681 masonlawcraig@gmail.com

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

No real human being would be likely to have a decade of daycare receipts. And the court is asked to take judicial notice of the voluntary and involuntary changes of residence of young adults raising children.

The policy results would be catastrophic, which is why the Washington State Attorney General filed an amicus brief in support of Shennen's position.

As an additional policy factor, any obligor who has waited more than two years to check on, or review, his or her child's daycare situation should not be given an incentive to be even more inattentive, only to "wake up" ten years later to make inquiry into the daycare situation of his

or her child. In this case, especially, Shawn also lived in Spokane and was fully aware of Shennen and their son's living (and non-working) situation.

There is no reasonable policy basis to give RCW 26.19.080 a ten-year statute of limitation. A ten-year statute of limitations would be a policy disaster that would impose great and inequitable hardship upon the persons raising children in our society.

D. Statutory and Equity Issues

Societies, through our legislatures and courts, try to assist the obligees who are raising children, so that they receive reasonable support from obligors.

The ten-year statute of limitations *for child support* serves that legislative purpose of financially maintaining children, and serves the legislative purpose of reimbursing those persons raising the children for their day-to-day costs of parenting. This unusually long statute of limitations serve obligees, and nothing in the legislative scheme applies or implies a 10-year statute of limitation in favor of obligors.

By contrast, RCW 26.19.080 benefits obligors, and it is a distinct remedy for obligors, for which no statute of limitation has been named. Therefore, the catch-all, two-year, statute of limitations -- RCW 4.16.130 -- should apply to actions for reimbursement of overpaid daycare.

/

II. SUPPLEMENTAL FACTS FOR STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shennen here corrects only the most salient mis-statements or omissions of Shawn's Statement of the Case, which are in pages 1-4 in his Petition for Discretionary Review.

Shawn's Statement of the Case, on page 2 of his Petition, acknowledges that he knew he was paying daycare, as it was garnished.

Shennen had declared to the court that Shawn discussed the matter with her from time to time, and then would ignore the matter, waiving the issue in her mind. (11/6/18 Supplemental Dec. of Shennen at CP:247-51.) Shennen also forewent bringing a motion to raise child support in reliance upon Shawn leaving the daycare payment where it was. See, e.g., CP:248. At another juncture, Shennen was going to have to move to Arizona for financial reasons, unless Shawn would keep paying the total of child support and daycare, which he did, and she did not move to Arizona in reliance upon this agreement. CP:248 at point 7.

Further, in reliance upon Shawn's knowingly and willingly, continuing to "overpay" child care, Shennen did not bring a contempt against Shawn, nor require his full contribution to medical expenses. CP:248-49.

Shawn, at page 3 of his Petition, states that Shennen presented no evidence that Shennen "had used the day care funds for day care."

True! Shennen declared that Shawn had waived any objection to the extra monthly payment as part of their agreements. The facts show that Shawn had full notice of the "overpayment," and did nothing until it was time for him to sell the home or provide to Shennen half of its equity. It is not plausible that Shawn was not aware that Shennen was not working due to her cancer and treatments. See, e.g., 11/6/18 Supplemental Dec. of Shennen at CP:247-51.

The final supplemental fact of note is that Shennen put all of her estate in trust for her son. CP:164-76.

III. ANSWER TO SHAWN'S ARGUMENT

From Shawn's own statement of the case, the \$43,300 trial judgment for the "overpayment" did not exist until the trial court created that judgment in this matter under appeal. Therefore, there is no "decree" in the sense of the term being used in RCW 4.16.020(2). This existence of the \$43,300 debt was the very thing to be determined on the appeal, and now after remand.

A. Division Three is Correct Shawn's Action is Not an Action to Enforce a Child Support Order

There was no such amount (\$43,300) in the divorce decree, as the issue had not yet been raised, nor even existed at that time. CP:9-6

(2009 - CS Order), 31-36 (Decree of Legal Separation, & 95-97 (Order

Converting to Dissolution).

Indeed, logically the decree could not address daycare debts, as the time of entry of the decree (2009 & 2010) was prior to the alleged overpayment of daycare, and the right to reimbursement for overpaid daycare *is a separate statutory right* of optional operation under RCW 26.19.080, for which one must file and take action.

Division Three addressed this issue directly (emphasis added):

Shawn argues his action is one to enforce the original child support order, which is part of the divorce decree. In support of his argument, he cites a provision of the support order that states: "The obligor may be able to seek reimbursement for day care or special child rearing expenses not actually incurred. RCW 26.19.080."² CP at 11. This provision uses the word "may" and directs the parties to RCW 26.19.080, which sets forth limitations and procedures for seeking reimbursements for overpaid day care or special child rearing expenses. We construe the provision as notifying the parties of a statutory right, not as creating a right in the decree for reimbursement. Shawn's argument would be stronger if the provision stated, "The obligor shall be liable for reimbursement of day care or special child rearing expenses not actually incurred." Because it does not say this, we conclude that Shawn's request for reimbursement of child care overpayments is not an action to enforce the child support order.

Goodyear-Blackburn v. Blackburn, 460 P.3d 202, 204 (Wash. Ct. App.

2020).

Issue Restated on Elective RCW 26.19.080 Statutory Right: Is an

optional and elective statutory right to seek reimbursement for overpaid

daycare a "decree or judgment" under RCW 4.16.020(2)? *Answer:* No. It is a distinct statutory permissive right of reimbursement for which a two-year statute of limitations is appropriate.

B. Child Support Is Meaningfully Distinct from an Elective

Day Care Refund

Next, Shawn tries to argue that the child support statute of

limitations applies to daycare reimbursement.

Again, Division Three appropriately noted that child support is one

thing, and elective daycare reimbursement is another (emphasis added):

RCW 4.16.020(3) provides in relevant part: "The period prescribed for the commencement of actions shall be ... ten years ... [after] the eighteenth birthday of the youngest child named in the order for whom support is ordered for an action to collect past due child support"

Here, <u>Shawn seeks reimbursement for overpaid child care</u> expenses. He does <u>not seek to recover past due child support</u>. Overpaid child care expenses are not past due child support. We conclude RCW 4.16.020(3) does not apply.

Goodyear-Blackburn v. Blackburn, 460 P.3d 202, 204-05 (Wash. Ct. App.

2020)

Issue Restated on Distinction Between Day Care Reimbursement and

Child Support: Is an optional and elective statutory right to seek

reimbursement for overpaid daycare a "decree or judgment" under RCW

4.16.020(2) one thing, and is child support another? Answer: Yes, they

are meaningfully distinct.

C. A Debtor Obligee Is Not Transmuted into an "Obligor"

Shawn's argument turns rather desperately on conflating debtorcreditor terms of art with obligee-obligor as child support terms of art.

Shawn is alleging that any time the obligee owes a refund to the obligor, then, in Shawn's view, the obligee becomes an "obligor" under the provisions of the child support statutes. See, for example, page 7 of Shawn's Petition for Discretionary Review.

Debtor-obligees do not become child support oligors. For example, if a primary parent who is a *child support obligee* is found in contempt, and ordered to pay fees to the obligor parent, *the obligee parent becomes a debtor to the obligor* who is now a creditor on the contempt judgment.

Losing a contempt hearing does not transmute the child support obligee into an obligor. Nor would such a transformation of legal status occur if an oligee incurred an RCW 26.19.080 debt to an obligor. <u>Issue Restated on Distinction Between Creditor-Debtor and Obligee-</u>

Obligor: If an obligee parent is determined to owe the obligor parent reimbursement for overpaid daycare under RCW 26.19.080, does the obligee parent become an "obligor" or a "debtor." *Answer:* The obligee becomes a debtor until the daycare overpayment is reimbursed, and the obligor is a creditor, but the status under the child support statutes of obligor and obligee remains unchanged.

With those clarifications made, Division III properly concludes:

Because neither RCW 4.16.020(2) nor RCW 4.16.020(3) apply, we conclude the two-year catchall statute of limitations applies.³ We remand for the trial court to enter an amended judgment based on a two-year statute of limitations.

Goodyear-Blackburn v. Blackburn, 460 P.3d 202, 205 (Wash. Ct. App.

2020).

Shawn proceeds in his Petition to claim that reimbursing day care is a "duty of support" (Pet. at p.10). That is not tenable. The remainder of Shawn's Petititon repeats the foregoing untenable arguments.

IV. ANSWER TO SHAWN'S OTHER LEGAL AUTHORITIES

This section addresses just a few of the cases which Shawn distorted in his Petition in hopes of getting the court to conflate the distinct concepts reviewed, above.

A. Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co. (& Northern Grain case)

Shawn is correct that the *Stenberg* case did overrule an archaic distinction between "direct" and "indirect" injuries for statute of limitation purposes, and applied the three-year statute of limitation to all actions for injuries:

We hold RCW 4.16.080(2) applies to causes of action claiming both direct and indirect injuries to the person or rights of another and overrule the direct/indirect injury distinction promulgated in the case of *Northern Grain & Warehouse Co. v. Holst*, 95 Wash. 312, 163 P. 775 (1917) (hereinafter *Northern Grain*) and its progeny.

Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co., 104 Wash. 2d 710, 711, 709 P.2d

793, 794 (1985).

However, the Northern Grain case was about damages from the

procedurally careless issuance of licenses to operate grain warehouses:

The amended complaint, briefly stated, alleged that in August, 1912, licenses were issued to one A. E. Nichols under the socalled grain inspection act to operate grain warehouses at Adrian, Wilson Creek, and Wheeler for a period of one year from July 1, 1912; that said licenses were issued carelessly, knowingly, and negligently by the principal respondents without obtaining a bond from Nichols, and thereafter the said respondents permitted Nichols to openly conduct said warehouses as public warehouses without exacting from him a bond...

N. Grain & Warehouse Co. v. Holst, 95 Wash. 312, 313, 163 P. 775, 776

(1917), overruled by Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co., 104 Wash. 2d

710, 709 P.2d 793 (1985).

Neither Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co, nor Northern Grain stand for a general denigration of legal distinctions. Apparently, Shawn is arguing in his Petition that Stenberg is to be used for the proposition that if there is ambiguity the longer statute of limitations should apply. See Pet. at p.20.

The problem for Shawn is that there is no "ambiguity" unless we transmute an obligee-debtor into an "obligor" (see above). There is no

rational basis for a deliberate confusion of two distinct statutory statuses (child support obligor and child support obligee).

Instead, Shennen asks the court to take this lesson from *Stenberg* (emphasis added):

We return to the original understanding of the statutes: The catchall provision serves as a limitation for any cases not fitting into the other limitation provisions. <u>This serves the State's purpose to</u> <u>compel prompt litigation and not leave persons fearful of</u> <u>litigation unlimited by time</u>.

Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co., 104 Wash. 2d 710, 721, 709 P.2d 793, 799 (1985).

Application of Stenberg v. Pac. Power & Light Co: The two-year statute of limitations for seeking reimbursement for overpaid daycare "compels prompt litigation," and it is the proper statute of limitations to apply to RCW 26.19.080. Perhaps, someday, an out-of-country obligor will have an equitable bases to request tolling the two-year statute of limitations, but that hypothetical possibility can be handled under existing law, and that is no reason to oppressively stretch RCW 26.19.080 with a ten-year statute of limitations. Shawn could have engaged in "prompt litigation," and did not.

/

/

/

B. Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Employees Ass'n v. Boeing Co.

Shawn turns to *Seattle Prof'l Eng'g* for this proposition (at p.17 of his Petition), "the two year statute of limitations could not be applied to a statutory right incorporated into an implied employment contract."

This case is so far afield as to have little relevance. However, to address Shawn's issue, in *Seattle Prof'l Eng'g* the State Supreme Court affirmed the trial court in finding that a three-year statute of limitations applied to the statutory scheme to reimbursing workers for unpaid work on an unjust enrichment basis:

Finally, the parties disagree about the applicable statute of limitations for WMWA claims. The employees argue the threeyear statute of limitations of RCW 4.16.080(2) applies. Boeing contends an action under the WMWA is subject to the two-year catch-all statute of limitations provided under RCW 4.16.130, citing *Cannon v. Miller*, 22 Wash.2d 227, 155 P.2d 500, 157 A.L.R. 530 (1945). In siding with the employees, the courts below held such a suit is governed by the three-year statute applicable to actions for "taking, detaining, or injuring personal property, including an action for the specific recovery thereof, or for any other injury to the person or rights of another not hereinafter enumerated[.]" RCW 4.16.080(2). *Accord Sorey v. Barton Oldsmobile*, 82 Wash.App. 800, 919 P.2d 1276 (1996), *review granted*, 131 Wash.2d 1001, 932 P.2d 643 (1997).

Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Employees Ass'n v. Boeing Co., 139 Wash. 2d 824,

836, 991 P.2d 1126, 1134, opinion corrected on denial of

reconsideration, 1 P.3d 578 (Wash. 2000).

There is no relevance of this case, except that it is a case with a statute of limitations controversy. Recent cases over-ruling archaic cases in contract and tort matters, by applying current law and statutes, is more misleading than probative as to child support matters.

Child support obligee-obligor terms of statutory art should not be overthrown by reference to inapplicable cases. That Shawn does not like the distinctions between obligors/obligees v. debtors/creditors does not mean these settled distinctions should be disrupted.

Shawn "sat on his rights" until the point that Shennen was dying of cancer and until the point he would have to – per the 2009 Decree of Legal Separation and 2010 Decree Converting Separation to Dissolution -provide to Shennen (or her trust for their son) her one-half of the net equity of the family home, in which Shawn was still living.

There is no legal or equitable reason to reward Shawn's dilatory behavior in particular, nor to change the incentives for the public in general.

V. CONCLUSION AND RELIEF REQUESTED: DENY REVIEW

While Shennen does not agree with every aspect of the Division Three opinion, it is a concise statement on issues of first impression, and review should be denied.

Shawn has not shown the bases for Review under RAP 13.4 apply.

There is no conflict between the Division Three decision and any State Supreme Court decision. RAP 13.4(1). There is no conflict with any other published appellate decision, as this is a case of first impression. RAP 13.4(2). The issue raised is not constitutional. RAP 13.4(3). While there is a public interest at stake as to daycare reimbursement, the Division Three decision competently and clearly addressed that concern, and the Division Three decision was consistent with the amicus briefing of the State Attorney General. RAP 13.4(4). There is no RAP 13.4 basis for accepting discretionary review. The court is asked to deny the petition for discretionary review.

Establishing the two-year statute of limitations for the elective option of a statutory action for reimbursement of overpaid daycare under RCW 26.19.080 is the correct decision by Division Three.

Clarity in the law, and justice in equity, is served by denying review, and by allowing the Division Three opinion to promptly become the law of the State of Washington.

Respectfully submitted,

4/30/20

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